
POST RD

TARA HILL DR

W
A

L
L

 S
T

D
IS

C
O

V
E

R
Y

B
LV

D

V
E

N
T

U
R

E
D

R

E
R

IE
C

T

RAY M OND
D

R

C
O

N
Q

U
I S

T
A

D
O

R
C

T

KE
T

C
H

U
M

 C
T

PERIMETER DR

PCD

R-1

PCD

PUD

PUD
PUD

PUD

PUD PCD

PCD

R-1

R-1

PUD

PUD

PUD

SO

PUD

13-058Z/PDP/PP
Village at Coffman Park PUD

Ganzhorn Suites
Discovery Boulevard and Wall Street F0 300150

Feet

Indian Run
Meadows Park

Post Rd

Perimeter Dr

D
iscovery B

lvd

Wall St

Nurture 
Yoga

Columbus 
Market Place

WD Partners

Rovio

SITE







Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
August 22, 2013 – Meeting Minutes 

Page 5 of 15 

 
Mr. Hardt commented that the applicant should be cautious about referring to the Midwestern Auto 
Group campus as an example.  He said those signs came through with a great deal of discussion and 
they were approved based on the fact that they are architecturally integrated with that building.  He said 
it did not necessarily make them a good fit for this building.  He said he thought they needed to come up 
with something that was unique to this facility.  
 
Ms. Amorose Groomes asked if the applicants had received clear feedback from the Commission. 
 
Mr. Wigler said that they had received clear direction and thanked the Commission for their feedback.  He 
said that they would like to upgrade the signs and maintain a high standard of signs. 
   
 
2. Village of Coffman Park PUD                                                    Kenzie Lane 

13-076PP/FP                                         Preliminary Plat/Final Plat 
 

Chair Chris Amorose Groomes introduced this application requesting a review and recommendation of 
approval to City Council of a preliminary plat and final plat for a subdivision of 2.339 acres into two 
reserves to facilitate the development and construction of 28 condominium buildings, on the north side of 
Wall Street, east of Discovery Boulevard.    
 
Gary Gunderman presented this application for the site located between Post Road and Wall Street.  He 
said that the Agenda and Notices incorrectly stated that the parcel was 8.77 acres being split into three 
parcels, when it was actually 2.339 acres being split into one reserve.  He said technically, this is a 
preliminary and final plat, but it is more of an administrative issue intended to transfer the title to the 
subject area from one person to another.  Mr. Gunderman said there is no impact or change in any of the 
development features.  He explained that the previously approved final development plan for the 63 
condominium project remains unchanged.  He said that there was nothing about this particular action 
that has any impact on it.  He said all it does is make it possible for the ownership to transfer of this area 
which was a feature that probably was not necessary in the past.  Over the past few years, financial 
institutions have taken a somewhat different attitude.  He said to proceed with this project and obtain 
building permits and financing, the applicant needs to have title to the underlying real estate.  Mr. 
Gunderman pointed out that that this was a Reserve lot because the intent is to continue with 
condominiums over the top of this area just as the first portion of project has been done.  He said 
otherwise, it would have been called a lot, but as a reserve, its intent is unique because it is to have 
condominiums on top of it.  He said that there will be no change in the approved final development plan.  
Mr. Gunderman said that this final plat will allow the applicant to take title to this area, but if they want 
to continue on with more of the project, they will need to do something similar, and depending upon how 
development proceeds may need to amend the Final Development Plan.       
 
Mr. Gunderman said that Planning recommends approval of this preliminary plat with no conditions, and 
that it be recommended that City Council approve the final plat with two conditions: 

 
Rosalind Childers, Vice President, Davidson-Phillips, Inc. said that they wish to continue what they started 
on Phase I of the development.  She explained that they purchased ten buildings in April 2012 that were 
in various stages of occupancy.  She said that they needed to have 18 units in order to sell it.  She said 
there are many interested buyers waiting if they are able to continue to build the next 11 pads.  She said 
that the 11 units in the Reserve area are already developed with pads, so the water, sewer, and storm 
sewers are in, and the only thing remaining would be the completion of the buildings and curbs.  She 
said the property is currently owned by Coffman Partners, LLC and that is what necessitates the transfer 
and the plat.    

1) That the applicant ensure that any minor technical adjustments to the plat are made prior to City 
Council submittal, including labeling the contour lines on the preliminary plat, and; 

2) That the utility easements be labeled as private on the final plat. 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
August 22, 2013 – Meeting Minutes 

Page 6 of 15 

 
Ms. Amorose Groomes invited public comments regarding this application. 
 
Gary Gray, (6022 Kenzie Lane, Dublin, Ohio), said that Davidson-Phillips had done a great job and 
everything that they said they would do when they took over the property.  He said that he 
recommended that they be allowed to continue to do what they started.    
 
John Hardt asked who currently controls the property. 
 
Ms. Childers said Coffman Partners LLC, was the original developer, but this request will transfer it to the 
control of Davidson-Phillips, Inc.  
 
Mr. Hardt asked if the original developer will retain control of the balance of the development. 
 
Ms. Childers confirmed that the original developer will retain control of the balance of the site.  She said 
they have a contract on the next area west if they are able to proceed.  She said this will depend on the 
future use of the rest of the property.   
 
Mr. Gunderman pointed out that if the alluded to development does come before the Commission and it 
is approved, then the area will need an amended final development plan. 
 
Mr. Hardt said he understood that if anything other than condominiums were to happen to the west of 
this parcel, it would require a whole review process.  
 
Mr. Gunderman said that if that did or did not happen, it would not impact this particular area.  He said 
either way, this area remain unchanged because the utilities and other facilities are all done. 
 
Mr. Hardt recalled that at the Informal Review several months ago, there was a proposal to turn the 
private road south so that it would loop and reconnect to Wall Street.  He asked if this proposal will keep 
the private road in its original location.   
 
Mr. Gunderman said that was correct. 
 
Warren Fishman asked if this would be developed exactly like the previous zoning. 
Mr. Gunderman said that everything will meet the same final development plan conditions that were 
previously approved. 
 
Joe Budde and Richard Taylor indicated that they had no comments or questions. 
 
Ms. Amorose Groomes asked if the cut through shown was intended to possibly provide access to the 
office building site on Post Road. 
 
Mr. Gunderman said that there was nothing on any of the plans that would suggest that. 
 
Ms. Childers said that there is an office building with a walking path to Post Road, but that was all. 
 
Ms. Amorose Groomes said that the office building was on and off again for a long time. 
 
Mr. Gunderman recalled that he had tried to convince someone interested in the office building that they 
should combine that to make a better project. 
 
Ms. Amorose Groomes confirmed that there were no more comments. 
 
 
 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission 
August 22, 2013 – Meeting Minutes 

Page 7 of 15 

 
Motion #1 and Vote – Preliminary Plat 
Mr. Taylor moved to approve this Preliminary Plat because it complies with the preliminary plat criteria.  
Ms. Kramb seconded.   
 
The vote was as follows:  Mr. Budde, yes; Mr. Hardt, yes; Ms. Amorose Groomes, yes; Mr. Fishman, yes;  
Ms. Kramb, yes; and Mr. Taylor, yes.  (Approved 6 – 0.) 
 
 
Motion #2 and Vote – Final Plat 
Mr. Taylor moved to recommend approval to City Council of this Final Plat with two conditions: 
 
Mr. Budde seconded the motion. 

 
Ms. Childers agreed to the conditions. 
 
The vote was as follows:  Mr. Hardt, yes; Ms. Kramb, yes; Mr. Fishman, yes; Ms. Amorose Groomes, yes; 
Mr. Budde, yes; and Mr. Taylor, yes.  (Approved 6 – 0.)  
 
 
 
3. Tartan West – Villas of Corazon                                                     0 Corazon Drive 

13-078AFDP                           Amended Final Development Plan 
 

Chair Chris Amorose Groomes introduced this application requesting additional patio options for 
residential condominiums in the Villas of Corazon, located in Subarea B of the Tartan West Planned Unit 
Development District, on the east side of Hyland-Croy Road, south of the intersection with McKitrick 
Road.  She said that the Commission is the final authority on this application. 
 
Ms. Amorose Groomes swore in those intending to speak in regards to this application including Steve 
Newcomb, Newbury Companies, (169 South Liberty Street, Powell, Ohio), Jim Harris, President of the 
Corazon Homeowners Association (9357 Pratolino Villa Drive, Dublin, Ohio), David Hill, Vice President of 
the Corazon Homeowners Association (9353 Pratolino Villa Drive, Dublin, Ohio), Joseph Schutt, (9340 
Roseto Villa Drive, Dublin, Ohio), and City representatives. 
Tammy Noble-Flading presented this amended final development plan for the Villas of Corazon which 
proposes alternative patio locations for four, single family condominium units in the subarea.   She said 
the site contains a mixture of single-unit family and multi-unit condominiums being accessed from the 
two roadways.  Ms. Noble-Flading said to the north of the site is zoned for commercial development and 
is part of the Tartan Ridge PUD, to the east are large lot residential development located within Jerome  
Township, to the south are other portions of Tartan West, and to the west is the Glacier Ridge Metro 
Park. 
 
Ms. Noble-Flading said the applicant is proposing alternative locations for at-grade patios.  She said Units 
#13, #17, #19, and #21.  She said the bases of the request is to provide alternative patio spaces for 
units that have larger open space connected to them with the idea that the homeowners would either be 
permitted patio space to the rear or to the side.  Ms. Noble-Flading presented the plat showing the 15-
foot by-40-foot tentative patio locations where the property owner can select where to construct an at-
grade patio.     
 

1) That the applicant ensure that any minor technical adjustments to the plat are made prior to City 
Council submittal, including labeling the contour lines on the preliminary plat, and; 

2) That the utility easements be labeled as private on the final plat. 
 





PLANNING AND ZONING COMMISSION

MEETING MINUTES

APRIL 4, 2013

2. Village at Coffman Park – Ganzhorn Suites                              Discovery Blvd at Wall Street
13-019CP                                                                     Concept Plan    

Chair Chris Amorose Groomes introduced the following application for review and non-binding feedback
of a Concept Plan for a potential future rezoning to permit a mix of office and elderly care uses on a nine-
acre site on the south side of Post Road, east of Discovery Boulevard, north of Wall Street. 

Claudia Husak presented this Concept Plan which is the first step in the PUD, Planned Unit Development 
Plan process. She said the site was zoned in 2005 as the Village of Coffman Park PUD with 66 detached 
units, three live/work units, a large clubhouse, common open space, and a pond. She presented the 
approved 2007 Final Development Plan showing the straight pattern lot layout with a 5 unit per acre 
density. She said the surrounding uses are Standard Office on the south side of Post Road. She said 
many of those uses are within the large Perimeter Center Planned Commerce District and on the north 
side, larger lot residential homes on Post Road, and farther north, subdivisions within the City of Dublin, 
and then parkland as part of Coffman Park.

Ms. Husak presented the proposed plan provided by the applicant for the Commission’s feedback. She 
said the proposal is to create within this new nine-acre PUD, three different subareas. She said the first 
subarea would be an approximate one-acre office area, the center would be a specialized memory care 
facility on approximately four acres, and the remaining four acres were divided by a north/south tree 
row. She said the applicant is unsure about the last subarea and Planning strongly encouraged the 
applicant to show a layout for the subarea.  She said the proposed layout includes cottage-type elderly 
housing. Ms. Husak said conceptual architectural renderings were provided for the memory care portion 
of the proposal showing brick, stone, and siding with larger roof overhangs, and porte cochere typically 
seen on these types of facilities. 

Ms. Husak said Planning’s concerns are whether or not this proposal warrants a change to the 
Community Plan as it is designated as residential on the Future Land Use Map, and this use is institutional 
and office. She explained Planning’s concern is with the approved PUD with an approved plan and the 
applicant is proposing to rezone out of that PUD, which leaves 2.5-acres undetermined. She said there 
are concerns about access for the existing condominiums and the fire department. Ms. Husak said there 
is not enough information available to determine how this would be addressed. She said the Commission 
is being asked if there is appropriate transition between the existing condominiums, the vacant two 
acres, and the applicant’s proposal.  She asked the Commission to discuss whether or not it is 
appropriate to have a new PUD separated from the existing PUD, and then whether or not the uses are 
arranged appropriately for the site. Ms. Husak said the applicant and Planning would welcome 
Commission comments.      

Eleanor Alvarez, (1322 Manning Parkway, Powell, Ohio) representing Ganzhorn Real Estate Dublin, LLC, 
said that for 30 years she has been dedicated to caring for the elderly working for two large companies 
providing nursing, home care, and assisted living care. She said for the last 13 years she ran a consulting 
group that supported other nursing home operations across the country, helping them to improve quality, 
stay in compliance with regulations, and helping them with various operations and financial issues. She 
said she now wants to develop an assisted living center, just for Alzheimer’s and other related dementia 
patients. She said they have designed a very specific building divided into four different pods or 

Land Use and Long
Range Planning 
5800 Shier Rings Road 
Dublin, Ohio 43016-1236

phone 614.410.4600
fax 614.410.4747
www.dublinohiousa.gov
____________________



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission
April 4, 2013 – Meeting Minutes

Page 2 of 6

neighborhoods that create small specialized environments for people afflicted with the diseases. She said 
they were very excited to come to Dublin and they thought it would be a great asset to the community.

Mike Close, (Wiles, Boyle, Burkholder & Bringardner Co., 300 Spruce Street, Columbus, Ohio), 
representing the applicant, said Eleanor Alvarez explained this is not a large national operation. He said 
they had met with the neighbors. He said none of the condominium neighbors attended the meetings 
held. He said no one appeared to be opposed to the skilled care facility, but the question presented was 
what becomes of the existing 11 condominiums. He said those condominiums maintain both the 
clubhouse and the lake at some expense. He said negotiations or discussions have begun as to how this 
proposal would use the stormwater facilities, but share in the costs of maintenance to minimize the costs 
for the condominium owners. He said the remaining 2 acres portion will never be developed as 
condominium, simply because it is no longer financially feasible to do it. He said a price point cannot be 
hit with the land to develop it as proposed.  He said the question is what happens to the rest of it. Mr. 
Close said Charlie Ruma is negotiating to get that completed. Mr. Close said he was not submitting his 
plan but he showed what his architectural drawing was that was 11 additional houses and roadway, 
which will complete the development, totaling 22 condominiums that will support the clubhouse and 
stormwater pond along with assistance from the applicant. 

Mr. Close said the issue remaining was what would happen on the rest of the site. He said the only 
feasible development is an office-type development, whether it is an additional residential facility related 
to the assisted living facility or a suburban office. He said a suburban office would be nice for doctors to 
be close for the facility. He said they are considering a development there that is no more intrusive than 
the condominiums. He said at most, there would be two-story buildings which would not exceed the 
condominium height and be compatible to the surrounding area. Mr. Close said the proposed care facility 
will be a single-story building. 

Mr. Close said using the soil on the site, it can be adequately mounded and landscaped so an office use 
could be separated from the condominium section. He said in addition, they recognize the need to ensure 
buffering to protect the residents on the north side of Post Road.

Mr. Close said the Planning Report does not include the steps that were taken prior to this. He said this 
development was not easy to get approved as condominiums. He said from his recollection, this was 
initially light industrial, then suburban office, and then the condominium project was approved. He said 
when looking at the surrounding uses, the suburban office was what should have remained. Mr. Close 
said that he thought this plan would provide adequate buffers. He said they had not heard any objections 
from the current condominium owners about developing an office use. He said they thought this facility 
was unique, there was a need for it in the community, and this was an appropriate area for it with 
commercial uses underneath it, beside it, and at the northeast corner of the property. He said they would 
discuss with Mr. Ruma about bringing this in as part of their preliminary development plan so that they 
can get things moving and platted. He offered to answer any questions.

Ms. Amorose Groomes invited public comments.

Ben Hale, Jr., Smith and Hale, (37 West Broad Street, Columbus, Ohio), said he represented Rosalinda 
Childers, and Charles Ruma, (Ruma Investment Co., 6760 Discovery Boulevard, Dublin, Ohio 43017). He 
said Mr. Ruma owns the property, formally owned by the Dublin Counseling Center which is located to 
the front, west of this site. He explained Mr. Ruma was purchasing the partially developed 11-unit site 
where the roads and pads could be constructed for 11 additional condominiums. He said Mr. Ruma had 
security concerns about the Alzheimer’s facility interfacing with the daycare center, and asked that when 
the Commission reviews the development plan for this project, that it included. He explained he did not 
represent the individual condominium owners in the association, just the association. He said however, 
he had consulted with the current owners or residents who live in the condominiums. He said the pond, 
was owned by the City and has a boardwalk and a clubhouse, and they want to make absolutely sure 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission
April 4, 2013 – Meeting Minutes

Page 3 of 6

that there is not an excessive burden placed on the 21 homeowners for maintenance costs. Mr. Hale said 
the applicant has agreed to pay in to the association an initial payment based on the other 42 units. He 
said Mr. Ruma puts $500 into the association funds every time he sells one of the units. He said the 
applicant has agreed to participate in terms of the maintenance of those facilities and pay their fair share 
so the residents who live there will not be overly burdened with the cost of maintaining those facilities 
when they were designed for 63 units, and there will be only 21 units. He said from Mr. Ruma’s and 
homeowners association’s point of view, they think this protects the interests of the condominium 
association and the daycare center. 

Jim Frazier, (Powell, Ohio), said after hearing about this development, he may choose not to close 
tomorrow on his condominium. He said originally, they were concerned about the commercial feel of the 
condominiums, but felt comfort there would be 66 units. He said they entered into a contract believing 
the current zoning would remain. Mr. Frazier said he had concerns that if there were only 20 units, it will 
become a less desirable neighborhood, and the value of the units currently owned will decrease or 
become rental property. He said the other potential condominium owners that might be in contract 
should have a chance to learn more about this project.

David Bromwich, (6300 Post Road, Dublin, Ohio), speaking on behalf of the Post Road Residents 
Association, said they were happy when this site was rezoned for 66 condominiums. He said this potential 
rezoning was not consistent with the Community Plan and there was a debate whether a different 
concept could work. He said the 11 condominiums were built just before the housing market dropped. He 
said the current concept plan is very broken up and the undefined office area to the east was a major 
concern. Mr. Bromwich said he wondered how intense the memory care facility would be. He said that 
Alzheimer’s was a fatal disease where health declined over time, so emergency vehicles may frequent the 
facility. He said he had concerns about the affordability of maintaining the pond and clubhouse with only 
21 condominiums and the enforcement of the maintenance fees years from now.

Gary Gray, (6022 Kenzie Lane, Dublin, Ohio), said he was happy he purchased his condominium from Mr. 
Ruma a year ago. He said he was the applicant and architect for the project in 1999 and had history with 
it from 2005. He said he believed it was a good use as it was rezoned. Mr. Gray said he thought with Mr. 
Ruma’s acquisition and repositioning of it showed current sales would improve and the uncertainties 
about continuing this development in the future were going away. He said the proposed office building 
and memory care facility are compatible with the community and neighborhood. He said however, he 
thought the proposed use adjacent to the condominiums was inconsistent with the concept of a 
residential neighborhood. He said suburban office is just as much a speculation today as any other 
development product.  He said with the current product there is some demonstrated market inertia for 
the future.  Mr. Gray said he believed the applicant has been working with his neighbors, although he 
was not one of them, and he did not think there was any aspersions. He said he had heard from his 
neighbors the applicants have been good to work with and they anticipated this being developed.

Charles Ruma, (2585 Slate Run, Upper Arlington, Ohio), said he was most affected by this project. He 
said he had owned the daycare facility for over 20 years. He said he was not concerned about security in 
regards to the daycare because he was convinced they would do both fencing and landscaping. He 
however when a child is in a playground, you do not want to give them any concern and want to make 
sure that they are safe. He said Ms. Alvarez had satisfied that concern as far as he could see. 

Mr. Ruma said the 11 lots that are partially developed for condominiums have been sitting there for 
almost a year, so he was glad that someone had said they are going to deal with the other nine acres. He 
said however, they need to deal with the two acres first. He said he wants to build ten more units, not 11 
because they will have to swing the street out to Wall Street so there will be a loop which will give them 
a comfortable 20-unit condominium community. He reassured the Commission ith 21 units at the current 
level the association is paying for assessments on a monthly bases the deal will work as long as the 
dementia facility pays into the association. He said when he first bought the property, he spent a lot of 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission
April 4, 2013 – Meeting Minutes

Page 4 of 6

money fixing, cleaning, and finishing the units to make sure they was marketable. Mr. Ruma said he also 
funded the reserve to make sure that every bit of reserve that should have been paid over the prior four 
years was paid. He said the association is on firm financial ground. He said he also paid forward in terms 
of operating expenses until they can get additional units and make this work. Mr. Ruma said what the 
Commission was seeing would probably be one of the more successful projects that he had stepped into 
in a very short period. He said it appeared they had sold nine of the eleven units and they have interest 
in the remaining units. He said he had the other ten under contract and can start working on them, he 
will be in a situation where he can start pre-selling.

Mr. Ruma said the dementia facility has promised to do extensive landscaping on their eastern boundary, 
and his western boundary. He said he had an excess of soil on his site and he had permission from the 
owner and the dementia facility owner to build a mound of substance on the property line so there is a 
clear demarcation between the two facilities. He said the mound will go as far as 15 feet into each 
property. Mr. Ruma said whether it proceeds or not, he is going to build those ten condominiums, and 
maybe eleven if it does not proceed.

Mr. Close said he disagreed with Mr. Ruma that they had reached a deal as to how much they are going 
to contribute. He explained a proposal had been made, but they had not had a chance to evaluate it. He 
said he did not want anyone to leave misunderstanding.  Mr. Ruma said if they do not make a deal with 
them, Mr. Hale and he will come down with full fury against this project. He said the applicant will need 
to make the appropriate contribution or they will not support it. 

Cheryl Frazier, whose husband spoke earlier, said the unit they were to close on tomorrow was selling for 
more than $350,000. She said they thought these homes were gorgeous and there was a need for this 
type of home. She said before buying the condominium, she would like to know what the Commission 
thinks about this Concept Plan. She said she thought if the owners of the existing units had been 
contacted about this, they would have been at this meeting because they thought more residential would 
be built.

Ms. Amorose Groomes said they would have a very clear picture of the Commissioner’s thoughts before 
leaving the meeting.       

Ms. Amorose Groomes verified that there were no additional public comments. She asked that the 
Commissioners begin their discussion.

Richard Taylor thanked Ms. Alvarez for considering to bring this project to Dublin and joining what is 
becoming a lengthy list of similar facilities proposed in Dublin. He said however, he did not think it was 
time for this yet on this property. He said his initial thought was that when this was originally approved in 
2005, nobody was aware that we were about to step over the housing cliff. He said the past seven years 
have had a lot to do with the lack of sales in this area. He said he saw two things happening that 
potentially impacted this project to have legs in the future and to fill some of the goals it was originally 
designed to do. He said one is being a buffer to this road and another is if this is built out they most likely 
will attract users of the park more than the other proposed use. Mr. Taylor said the market may be 
changing and he thought it was too early to consider changing the use of this and the Community Plan 
when things might be improving. He said also, in that regard, they have spent a lot of time developing 
the areas close to this such as the Bridge Street Corridor and this dense higher end housing is something 
the Commission has advocated to have in this area. Mr. Taylor suggested this development was ahead of 
its time a little and the time may be returning for it. He said looking at the overall map of the area and 
what is developed and undeveloped around Coffman Park, this is the last piece of property that is going 
close to the park to be developed, and would be the largest one to not be residential if it were developed 
as proposed tonight. Mr. Taylor said his preference is that it stays according to the original zoning and  
the Community Plan, but he did not know if it would be the same development plan that was proposed in 



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission
April 4, 2013 – Meeting Minutes

Page 5 of 6

2005, but maybe another version of that with fewer homes. He reiterated he thought the use needed to 
remain. 

John Hardt said he would welcome a facility such as Ganzhorn Suites in Dublin, but he was not sure this 
was the right location for it. He said he was concerned about the potential impact to the abutting 
neighborhood. He said the current proposal seemed like it would cut off the neighborhood and leave it a 
shell of its former self. He said he also had many concerns whether a 20 condominium development was 
sustainable from a financial and a neighborhood perspective. He said he did not see how 20 isolated units 
would be a livable or sustainable neighborhood, and he believed there is some risk to that portion of this 
site potentially to become a blight on Dublin’s crown jewel park next door. He said he needed to be 
convinced the condominium development could be brought to some kind of critical mass, making it 
sustainable culturally and financially and bringing it to some kind of sensible conclusion before he would 
consider another use for the balance of the site to the west.

Amy Kramb said she was fine with the care facility, and had the site not been residentially zoned she 
would support it in this location. She said she thought taking the condominiums to at least to the tree line 
would give the complex a large enough concentration to be a viable neighborhood. She said if left as 20 
units, it would not be as thriving and she thought it might turn into a rental, transient place and not a ‘we 
want to live here for the next 20 years’ type place. She said maybe 40 units could get it, but she did not 
know. She said she had been convinced that financially, it will work, but she did not think a small 
residential pocket was wanted which would not have been the intent when it was rezoned originally. She 
reiterated there was a problem with the proposed location for the facility, but not the facility itself.

Victoria Newell said an Alzheimer’s facility sometimes can be an appropriate mix when it is screened 
appropriately from nearby residential neighborhoods. She said the City had gone to great lengths to 
redirect traffic off Post Road. She said she was very concerned the existing residential area would 
become too isolated and she definitely thought it needed to be respected. She said the current zoning 
needed to remain. She said any development on this site definitely needed to screen well along Post 
Road and the residences. Ms. Newell said she was not supportive of the suburban office use in direct 
contact with the residential neighborhood.

Mr. Fishman said he was a Commission member in 2005 when the original rezoning application was 
presented and present for the daycare center application. He noted the meeting minutes reflected the 
Commission was convinced the development would buffer the residential zoning to the north. He said he 
was against the high density development then because he did not want to lose revenue for the City. He 
said it was zoned commercial, and he felt if it was down zoned residential, the City would lose revenue, 
however he was convinced that it was going to be a beautiful upscale neighborhood that was going to 
buffer the other residential on Post Road and it was going to be near the park for those residents. He 
said this was designed as a residential neighborhood to be massive to buffer the other neighborhoods, 
but also to be residential right against commercial zoning and have enough mass to support it. Mr. 
Fishman said he recalled the Commission got assurances from the developer at that time that it would be 
very upscale. He said even then, the units were going be more than $350,000. He said at this point, he 
could not support 20 or 40 units. Mr. Fishman said he supported the facility use and wanted to see it in 
Dublin, but he did not think this was the location for it. He said it would do an injustice to the existing 
condominium residents if the Commission surrounded them by a non-residential use. He said he hated to 
say though, because originally, he wanted to see a higher use and more revenue for the City. He said at 
this point, he had to agree with the other Commissioners.

Ms. Kramb said she was not a Commission member when this site was zoned to residential, and she 
probably would not have thought to even consider this residential then. She said however, it is residential 
now, and the problem is that a very small component of the residential construction has already started. 
She said because it is currently residential, she thought they needed to at least have a sustainable 
neighborhood.



Dublin Planning and Zoning Commission
April 4, 2013 – Meeting Minutes

Page 6 of 6

Ms. Newell said she agreed partially with the other Commissioners. She said that they have frequently 
used some sort of care facility as a transition between office and residential uses all over the City. She 
said she did not have a problem with the Alzheimer’s facility, but she certainly could not be supportive of 
an application that crossed the natural barrier. She said she thought a 40-unit neighborhood would be 
acceptable and would help in their revenue generation to maintain their common space. Ms. Amorose 
Groomes said she would be okay with rezoning the memory care portion, because memory care uses 
have traditionally been used as a transition between commercial and residential uses. She said she 
thought that would be appropriate here as well and she thought that a 40-unit condominium complex 
would provide enough appeal.

Mr. Fishman said he agreed with Ms. Amorose Groomes, but he felt it would be very important to keep 
the high quality scale of the existing condominiums.

Ms. Amorose Groomes said she would not rezone those condominiums. She said the zoning text had 
been approved. 

Mr. Fishman said he thought health care was a decent transition. He said he did not know what number
of units it would take to be sustainable. He said originally, they were convinced there needed to be 60-
units.

Ms. Amorose Groomes said she would see this something similar to the Willowgrove Condominiums 
where they are isolated and surrounded by very different views. She said there is a very strong 
community there and they take very good care of their grounds. 

Mr. Fishman said he would really welcome the facility and if the same quality of condominiums could be 
kept with the 40 or 44 units, he could live with that.

Ms. Newell said she hoped that it was clear that she thought the Alzheimer’s care facility can be a good 
buffer to residential, but what was bothering her was the transition between the condominiums and the 
health care facility.

Mr. Hardt said he agreed it is probably the component in the middle that he had the most heartburn. He 
said it feels like they had a use identified on the west end of the site, and they know they need to do 
some sort of continuation of the residential into the site and that they do not know what is to be done 
with the site in the middle, and it is a question mark.

Ms. Amorose Groomes invited the applicant to ask questions about the Commissioners’ feedback that was 
unclear. Mr. Close said he understood the Commissioner’s comments and appreciated them. 

Ms. Amorose Groomes said there is no vote would be taken because this is a Concept Plan. She said  
hopefully, the comments of the Commissioners were clear enough to the residents. 


